2001

JOSE S. SALAZAR and MILDRED O.
SALAZAR, Plaintiffs and Appellants -vs-
THRIFTY NICKEL INC., a Utah Corporation,
WANT ADS OF SALT LAKE CITY, INC., a Utah
Corporation, SOUTHERN CROSS, INC. a Utah
Corporation, ROBERT L. CHRISTENSEN, and
NORMAN WILKINSON Defendants and
Appellees: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

Plaintiffs / Appellants Mr and Mrs. Salazar ("Salazar") bring this appeal from a final order of the Third District Court of Salt lake County, Utah (see Addendum A). This appeal is taken pursuant to the Utah Rules of Appellate

Procedure Title II and was referred to this court pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78-2-2(4).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

W. Did the Third District Court properly dismiss the action as to Mr.

Christensen claiming the Salazars' allegations failed as a matter of law to state a cognizable claim against Christensen?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: The propriety of a dismissal of a party's claims presents a question of law, the Utah Court of Appeals reviews the trial court's conclusions for correctness, granting them no deference.

Workman v. Brighton Properties, Inc., 976 P. 2d 1209 (Utah 1999); Lopez v. Union Pacific Railroad, 932 P.2d 601, 603 (Utah 1997).

B. Is a motion to dismiss appropriate when, as a matter of law, the plaintiffs could recover under the facts alleged?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: Questions of law are reviewed for correctness with no deference to the trial court. U.R.C.P. 12(b)(6); Lowe v. Sorenson Research Co., 779 P.2d 668, 669 (Utah 1989).” Harmon City, Inc. v. Nielsen & Senior, 907 P.2d 1162 (Utah 1995)?

C. Should Plaintiffs / Appellees be permitted to amend their complaint?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: In a notice pleading jurisdiction like Utah,

U.R.C.P. rule 8(a) "is to be liberally construed when determining the sufficiency of a plaintiffs' complaint," Gill v. Timm, 720 P.2d 1352, 1353 (Utah 1986) and the text of rule 8 itself declares that "all pleadings shall be so construed as to do substantial Justice." Utah R. Civ. P. 8(f).. Allegations include facts and reasonable inferences therefrom. Cruz v. Middlekauff Lincoln-Mercury, Inc., 909 P.2d 1252 (Utah 1996). As to such legal questions, the Utah Supreme Court reviews the trial court's conclusions for correctness, granting them no deference. Workman v. Brighton Properties, Inc., 976 P. 2d 1209, para. 2 (Utah 1999); Lopez v. Union Pacific Railroad, 932 P.2d 601, 603 (Utah 1997).

- D. Can both an entity and its alter ego be liable for full damages caused by a breach of an employment agreement and, furthermore, is Christensen, as a shareholder of Thrifty Nickel of Orem protected from suit by plaintiffs' contract action?

STANDARD OF REVIEW: Questions of law are reviewed for correctness with no deference to the trial court. Both an entity and its alter ego are liable for full damages caused by a breach of an employment agreement See Diston v. EnviroPak Medical Products, 893 P.2d 1071 (Utah 1995).

Corporate officers and shareholders are not, per se, exempt from personal liability. Ringwood v. Foreign Auto Works, 786 P.2d 1350 (Utah 1990).

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs, Jose and Mildred Salazar, were rewarded with an Employment Agreement¹, dated 1-1-1992, for their years of loyal service to Robert L. Christensen, owner of the Thrifty Nickel empire². The Agreement gave the Salazars certain employment, severance, and retirement benefits.

Mr. Christensen was involved as an author of the Employment Agreement and authorized its signing. Mr. Christensen has refused to provide post-employment compensation and other benefits in accordance with the terms of the Agreement.

After unsuccessfully making demands of Mr. Christensen for payment, the Salazar's filed suit³ on August 8, 2000, seeking recovery of funds owed to them. The Third District Court issued an Order for Alternative Service on December 6, 2000 after Mr. Christensen avoided service for nearly four months. Salazar's also brought suit against several Thrifty Nickel companies and officers all of which have been dismissed.

¹. See Addendum C

². Affidavit of Tim Taylor dated 16 Jan 01, ¶6 & 7.

³. Complaint, see Addendum B.

Mr. Christensen has not answered the complaint against him but filed a December 28, 2000 Motion to Dismiss⁴ plaintiffs' complaint. The motion's only averment was that the complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

On March 5, 2001, Mr. Christensen's Motion to Dismiss came on for hearing before the Honorable J. Dennis Frederick, Judge of the Third District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah. After oral argument Judge Frederick granted the Motion with an Order issued on March 14, 2001⁵.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

The Salazars seek to have the order of the lower court reversed with the matter remanded for further proceedings including amendment of the complaint.

⁴. Defendant's Motion to Dismiss is found in Addendum G.

⁵. See Addendum A.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Plaintiffs, Jose and Mildred Salazar, were rewarded with an Employment Agreement⁶, dated 1-1-1992, for their ten years⁷ of loyal service to their friend⁸ Robert L. Christensen, owner of the Thrifty Nickel empire⁹. The Employment Agreement was an inducement¹⁰ for the Salazar's to move their place of employment to Utah¹¹. The Agreement gave the Salizars certain employment, severance, and retirement benefits.

Mr. Christensen played a part in drafting¹² the Employment Agreement, was aware of its terms, approved the document¹³ and authorized his son, Tim Taylor, to sign¹⁴ it on behalf of the Thrifty Nickel companies. Mr. Christensen

⁶. See Addendum C

⁷. Affidavit of Jose S. Salazar dated 11 Jan 01, ¶2. Affidavit of Mildred O. Salazar dated 11 Jan 01, ¶2. See Addendums D & E.

⁸. Affidavit of Jose S. Salazar dated 11 Jan 01, ¶7. Affidavit of Mildred O. Salazar dated 11 Jan 01, ¶7.

⁹. Affidavit of Tim Taylor dated 16 Jan 01, ¶6 & 7.

¹⁰. Affidavit of Tim Taylor dated 16 Jan 01, ¶3. See Addendum F.

¹¹. Affidavit of Jose S. Salazar dated 11 Jan 01, ¶3. Affidavit of Mildred O. Salazar dated 11 Jan 01, ¶3.

¹². Affidavit of Tim Taylor dated 16 Jan 01, ¶4.

¹³. Affidavit of Jose S. Salazar dated 11 Jan 01, ¶6. Affidavit of Mildred O. Salazar dated 11 Jan 01, ¶6.

¹⁴. Affidavit of Tim Taylor dated 16 Jan 01, ¶5.

reaffirmed the validity of the Employment Agreement in 1999¹⁵ despite a change in the company name¹⁶. Mr. Christensen has refused to provide post-employment compensation and other benefits in accordance with the terms of the Agreement. Plaintiffs, both over 65 years of age, were summarily terminated without cause from their employment on April 28, 2000.

After making demands of Mr. Christensen for payment, the Salazar's filed suit¹⁷ on August 8, 2000, alleging, inter alia, that their friend Mr. Christensen owned in whole or in part many of the Thrifty Nickel companies, that he personally controls the operations of more or less 86 entities publishing classified advertisement newspapers throughout the United States, most of which publish under the banner "Thrifty Nickel." Mr. Christensen is the sole shareholder of Want Ads of Salt Lake and Southern Cross Co., a member of the board of directors, and, truly, the alter ego of the Thrifty Nickel businesses. Further, the Salazars complained that there should be no corporate veil distinguishing or protecting the assets of the defendant¹⁸. The Third District Court issued an Order for Alternative Service on December 6, 2000 after Mr.

¹⁵. Affidavit of Jose S. Salazar dated 11 Jan 01, ¶9. Affidavit of Mildred O. Salazar dated 11 Jan 01, ¶9.

¹⁶. Affidavit of Tim Taylor dated 16 Jan 01, ¶6.

¹⁷. Complaint, see Addendum B.

¹⁸. Complaint, paragraph 37.

Christensen avoided service for nearly four months. Salazar's also brought suit against several Thrifty Nickel companies and officers all of which have been dismissed.

Mr. Christensen has not answered the complaint against him but filed a December 28, 2000 Motion to Dismiss¹⁹ plaintiffs' complaint. The motion's only averment was that the complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. He attempted to expand the grounds for dismissal in his accompanying memorandum claiming that, as a shareholder of Thrifty Nickel, plaintiffs' contract action against him is barred or that the alleged facts fail to support a claim of piercing the corporate veil against him.

Mr. Christensen was dismissed by the Third District Court over objections of the Salazars. Their request to amend their complaint, if needed, to adequately allege damages by Mr. Christensen was ignored. Though discovery and a deposition of Mr. Christensen had been noticed-up by the Salazars²⁰, they were not allowed to proceed with development of their case against Mr. Christensen.

¹⁹. Defendant's Motion to Dismiss is found in Addendum G.

²⁰. Plaintiffs mailed a Notice of Deposition to defendants attorney, Scott Call, on February 27, 2001 for an April 24, 2001 deposition.

ARGUMENTS

I. Plaintiffs' Complaint, as a matter of law, states a cognizable claim against Christensen.

The complaint, supplemented with plaintiffs' Memorandum in Opposition to defendant's Motion to Dismiss supplemented with three affidavits, sets forth the facts of the case and provides a basis for relief.

"A grant of a motion to dismiss is proper 'only where it appears that the plaintiff . . . would not be entitled to relief under the facts alleged or under any state of facts they could prove to support their claim.' Robertson v. Gem Ins. Co., 828 P.2d 496, 499 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (quoting Prows v. State, 822 P.2d 764, 766 (Utah 1991))." Hobbs v. Labor Commission, 991 P.2d 590, (Utah 1999). As to such legal questions, the Utah Court of Appeals reviews the trial court's conclusions for correctness, granting them no deference. Workman v. Brighton Properties, Inc., 976 P. 2d 1209, para. 2 (Utah 1999); Lopez v. Union Pacific Railroad, 932 P.2d 601, 603 (Utah 1997).

In the case of Cruz v. Middlekauff Lincoln-Mercury, Inc., 909 P.2d 1252 (Utah 1996) the issue was the reverse of the present case. The District Court had refused to dismiss the action. The court concluded that "the trial court properly denied [defendant's] rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss because *under the alleged*

facts and the reasonable inferences therefrom, the complaint states a claim upon which relief can be granted." (emphasis added)

Case law is replete with clear edicts that, "A motion to dismiss is appropriate only where it clearly appears that the plaintiff or plaintiffs would not be entitled to relief under the facts alleged or under any state of facts they could prove to support their claim." Prows v. State, 822 P.2d 764, 766 (Utah 1991) (citing Colman v. Utah State Land Bd., 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990)); see also, Olson v. Park-Craig-Olson, Inc., 815 P.2d 1356, 1360 (Utah App. 1991).

"Dismissal of a claim under Rule 12(b)(6) is a severe measure given the liberality of notice pleading". DeBry v. Valley Mortgage Company, 835 P.2d 1000, (Utah App. 1992).

Plaintiffs alleged facts²¹ which, when proven at trial, will show defendant Robert Christensen to be liable for damages suffered. "A motion to dismiss is appropriate only when it is apparent that as a matter of law, the plaintiff could not recover under the facts alleged. U.R.C.P. 12(b)(6); Lowe v. Sorenson Research Co., 779 P.2d 668, 669 (Utah 1989)." Harmon City, Inc. v. Nielsen & Senior, 907 P.2d 1162 (Utah 1995).

²¹. See the complaint in Addendum B, and plaintiffs' affidavits in Addendums C & D.

A. Utah is a notice pleading state requiring pleadings to be construed as to do substantial justice.

Utah is a notice pleading state. The text of rule 8 itself declares that "all pleadings shall be so construed as to do substantial Justice." Utah R. Civ. P. 8(f). In a notice pleading jurisdiction like Utah, rule 8(a) "is to be liberally construed when determining the sufficiency of a plaintiffs' complaint," Gill v. Timm, 720 P.2d 1352, 1353 (Utah 1986) and

The claim need not be specific, rather, "under Utah's liberal notice pleading requirements, all that is required is that the pleadings be sufficient to give fair notice of the nature and basis of the claim asserted and a general indication of the type of litigation involved." Fishbaugh v. Utah Power & Light, 969 P.2d 403, 406 (Utah 1998) (internal quotations and citations omitted). See also Gill v. Timm, 720 P.2d 1352, 1353 (Utah 1986) and Blackham v. Snelgrove, 3 Utah 2d 157, 161, 280 P.2d 453, 455 (1955)).

In reviewing a motion to dismiss, "[w]e construe the facts in the complaint liberally and we consider all the reasonable inferences to be drawn from the facts in a light most favorable to the plaintiffs." Baker v. Angus, 910 P.2d 427, 430 (Utah Ct. App. 1996). Our review of the motion to dismiss presents a question of

law, which we review for correctness, giving "the trial court's ruling no deference." St. Benedict's Dev. Co. v. St. Benedict's Hospital, 811 P.2d 194, 196 (Utah 1991). Busche v. Salt Lake County, 2001 UT App 111 (Utah App. 04/05/2001).

Under rules of notice pleading, it is sufficient that defendants be given only a fair idea of the nature of the claims asserted against them sufficient to apprise them of the general basis of the claim. Garcia v. Coffman, 946 P.2d 216 (N.M. App. 1997) Plaintiffs' complaint, memorandum in opposition to defendant's motion to dismiss, and affidavits were more than adequate to inform Mr Christensen that the Salazars held him to be personally involved in their employment contract and that they sought to hold him personally liable for their damages.

Mr. Christensen was well aware of the allegations against him and took action to avoid service of summons. In total, his involvement in drafting the Employment Agreement²², his avoidance of service²³, and other alleged facts constitute fair notice of alter ego and piercing the corporate veil as discussed later in this brief.

²². Affidavit of Tim Taylor dated 16 Jan 01, ¶4.

²³. Plaintiffs' Motion to Serve Defendant Robert L. Christensen by Mail and Minute Entry Ruling. See Addendum H.

"Dismissal of a claim under Rule 12(b)(6) is a severe measure given the liberality of notice pleading, and must be granted only when it is apparent that under no set of facts proven in support of the claim as pleaded would a party be entitled to relief." Olson v. Park-Craig-Olson, Inc., 815 P.2d 1356, 1360 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) (citing Colman v. Utah State Land Bd., 795 P.2d 622, 624 (Utah 1990)).

B. Appellants should be given an opportunity through discovery to prove that Mr. Christensen was, in fact, a party to the Employment Contract.

Many facts are in dispute in the current matter. Defendant has not yet answered plaintiffs' complaint. It is, therefore, unclear, precisely which facts are in dispute.

Many facts are yet to be discovered. Plaintiff had filed its First Set of Interrogatories and Request for Production of Documents on February 27, 2001. These remain unanswered and are attached as Addendum I. Among other yet undiscovered important issues are the following:

1. What was the extent of defendant's involvement in any of the defendant corporations?
2. Does defendant now or did he previously own stock in any corporation

that is listed as a defendant in this lawsuit? If so, how many shares does he now own or has he previously owned and what percentage of ownership does this represent?

3. What input has defendant had into the making of or knowledge of the existence of the Employment Agreement with plaintiffs?
4. Has defendant ever served as a director, officer, or representative of any of the Thrifty Nickel companies?
5. Did defendant ever loan money to any of the defendant corporations? If so, state when and the amount, and the balance still owed on each loan.
6. Did any of the defendant corporations loan defendant any money?
7. Did defendant ever guaranty or cosign any obligation of any of the defendant corporations?
8. Did any of the defendants ever advance funds to defendant Christensen for services to be performed later?
9. At any time since 1996 , did you incorporate or cause to be incorporated any other corporation?

Defendant owns a national network of classified newspapers under the "Thrifty Nickel" banner. Defendant's personal relationship and involvement in

the operations of these newspapers can only be uncovered in the discovery process.

These questions are critical to defendant's liability under the subject Employment Agreement. A checklist of 17 facts and circumstances tending to show that a corporate president is alter ego of a corporation is found in 18 Am Jur 2d, Corporations, §53.

The lower court assumed Mr. Christensen was protected behind the corporate veil. This presumption can be rebutted. When rebutted, the discharged employee may have a claim for breach of contract. Berube v. Fashion Centre, 771 P.2d 1033 at 1044 (Durham, J., joined by Stewart, J.), 1051 (Zimmerman, J., Concurring in the result); Caldwell v. Ford, Bacon & Davis Utah, Inc., No. 20246, 114 Utah Adv. Rep. 14, 777 P.2d 483 (June 28, 1989).

Under the factual allegations of the complaint, the Salizars have stated such a claim for breach of contract. Construing their allegations in a light most favorable to the Salazars, the facts support a claim for contract damages. See Berube v. Fashion Centre, 771 P.2d 1033 at 1044-46 (Durham, J., joined by Stewart, J.), 1050 (Howe, Assoc. C.J., Concurring, joined by Hall, C.J.), 1052-53 (Zimmerman, J., Concurring in the result); Caldwell, slip op. at 7. "Therefore, we vacate the grant of the motion to dismiss and remand for further proceedings." Lowe v. Sorenson, 779 P.2d 668, (Utah 1989).

There exist many questions of fact in the appealed case. Discovery had barely begun. The Salazars listed some 25 issues of fact that were still in dispute. It was premature for the Court to dismiss the action.

The District Court had at its disposal an alternative to dismissal that would have much better served the needs of justice. In an earlier case, the Utah Supreme Court observed that further discovery was needed, “The trial court denied the motion to dismiss without prejudice and allowed the parties 120 days for discovery. . . to determine whether a written employment contract existed between the parties.” Lowe v. Sorenson Research Co., 779 P.2d 668, (Utah 1989).

II. The Third District Court should have limited its scope to the single issue brought out in the Motion to Dismiss.

Defendant’s Motion to Dismiss the complaint narrowly focused on only one allegation, that plaintiffs failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. Defendant then attempts to expand the requested grounds for dismissal in his accompanying memorandum claiming that, as a shareholder of Thrifty Nickel, plaintiffs’ contract action against him is barred or that the alleged facts fail to support a claim of piercing the corporate veil against him.

Judge Frederick's decision stated "All that's alleged is that Mr. Christensen was an owner, that he had knowledge of the contract. . . the sum total of the allegations incident to Christensen's involvement here do not give fair notice of a claim of attempt to breach corporate veil . . ."

It becomes obvious that Judge Frederick may not have recently read the complaint. The complaint (See Addendum B) contains the following allegations against Mr. Christensen:

5. Defendant Robert L. Christensen (Christensen) is an individual believed to reside in the State of Florida and doing business in Salt Lake County, Utah.
7. Plaintiffs entered into a written Employment Agreement with Defendant(s) Thrifty Nickel on January 1, 1992. A copy of the Employment Agreement, marked Exhibit 1 [Addendum B herein], is attached and made a part of this pleading.
19. Plaintiffs worked continuously and diligently under their Employment Agreement for defendants receiving pay checks for succeeding and inconsistently intermixed periods from Thrifty Nickel, WASL, Southern Cross, and others.
21. Thrifty Nickel was and is owned in whole or part by defendant

Christensen.

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