2001

Jose S. Salazar and Mildred O. Salazar v. Thrifty Nickel of Orem, Inc., a Utah Corporation; Want Ads of Salt Lake City, Inc., a Utah corporation; Souther Cross, Inc., a Utah corporation; Robert L. Christensen, an individual; and Norman Wilkinson, an individual : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

The trial court correctly dismissed the Salazars' Complaint with prejudice pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), because the Salazars have not demonstrated that they pled or could plead any set of facts that would result in Christensen being personally liable for breach of an employment agreement between the Salazars and Thrifty Nickel of Orem. Even if this Court considers all of the Salazars' allegations and extraneous filings, the Salazars still cannot state any cognizable claim against

Christensen individually. See infra. This Court should therefore affirm the trial court's decision.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying leave to amend the Complaint where: 1) the Salazars never filed a motion for leave to amend and never proposed or filed any amendment despite that they were free to at any time prior to dismissal; instead they merely requested leave in one sentence in their opposition to the motion to dismiss; 2) leave to amend would have been futile because even if the Salazars' Complaint and other extraneous materials presented by the Salazars are considered, there are no conceivable set of facts under which Christensen could be personally liable to the Salazars; and 3) the Salazars' argument that they should be allowed to conduct discovery in an attempt to find some yet unknown claim against Christensen upon which to base their amendment is directly contrary to well-established law and policy. See infra. This Court should therefore affirm the trial court's sound decision.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY FOUND THAT THE SALAZARS DID NOT AND CANNOT STATE A COGNIZABLE CLAIM AGAINST CHRISTENSEN.

Pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6), a party may obtain dismissal of a complaint where the complaint fails to state a claim upon which relief may be granted. "[T]he purpose of a Rule 12(b)(6) motion is to challenge the form or sufficiency of the claim for relief, not to establish the facts or resolve the merits of a case." Whipple v. Am. Fork Irr. Co., 910 P.2d 1218, 1220 (Utah 1996) (citing Charles A. Wright and Arthur R. Miller, Fed. Practice and Procedure, § 1356 (1990)).¹ If it is apparent that as a matter of law the plaintiff could not recover under the facts alleged, then the court should dismiss the plaintiff's complaint. Harmon City, Inc. v. Nelson & Senior, 907 P.2d 1162, 1167 (Utah 1995).

Although all well-plead facts in the complaint are accepted as true on a motion to dismiss, "[l]iberal construction has its limits, for the pleading must at least set forth sufficient information for the court to determine whether some recognized legal theory exists upon which relief could be accorded the pleader. If it fails to do so, a motion under Rule 12(b)(6) will be granted." James Wm. Moore, Moore's Fed. Practice, § 12.341(b)

¹ Because Utah R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) is identical to its counterpart under the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, cases interpreting Rule 12(b)(6) of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure are persuasive when considering their state counterparts. See Barton v. Utah Transp. Auth., 872 P.2d 1036 (Utah 1994); First Sec. Bank of Utah Nat'l Assoc. v. Conlin, 817 P.2d 298 (Utah 1991).

(3rd ed. 1997). Where a complainant fails to allege essential elements of a cause of action, the complainant fails to give "fair notice" and, therefore, the complaint should be dismissed. See Connley v. Gibson, 355 U.S. 41, 47 (1957); See also Peterson v. Atlanta Hous. Auth., 998 F.2d 904, 912 (11th Cir. 1993).

Dismissal of a cause of action is entirely proper where the party fails to state facts demonstrating all of the elements of a cause of action. DeBry v. Valley Mortgage Co., 835 P.2d 1000, 1008-1009 (Utah Ct. App. 1992); Boisjoly v. Morton Thiokol, Inc., 706 F. Supp 795, 801 (D. Utah 1988); Lewis v. ACB Bus. Servs., Inc., 135 F.3d 389 (6th Cir. 1998); Ledesma v. Dillard Dept. Stores, Inc., 818 F. Supp. 1983, 1984 (D.C. Tex. 1993) ("If a complaint omits facts concerning pivotal elements of the pleader's claim, the court is justified in assuming the nonexistence of such facts.") Furthermore, mere conclusory allegations are insufficient to prevent the granting of a motion to dismiss. DeBry, 835 P.2d at 1008-1009; Hicks v. City of Watonga, 942 F.2d 737, 743 (10th Cir. 1991); Hall v. Bellmon, 935 F.2d 1106, 1110 (10th Cir. 1991); Bauchman v. W. High Sch., 900 F. Supp. 254, 259 (D. Utah 1995).

The Salazars failed to plead facts necessary to state a claim against Christensen for breach of the alleged employment agreement between the Salazars and Thrifty Nickel of Orem and cannot provide any factual basis for any other claims. Indeed, by filing three affidavits in an attempt to avoid dismissal of the Complaint, the Salazars tacitly conceded that the Complaint against Christensen was defective. The trial court

was therefore correct in dismissing the deficient complaint as a matter of law and this Court should affirm.

A. Christensen Cannot Be Personally Liable On An Employment Agreement Between The Salazars And Thrifty Nickel Of Orem.

1. Christensen Cannot Be Personally Liable Under the Agreement, Because He is Neither a Party Nor a Signatory to the Alleged Agreement.

The Salazars' claims are based entirely on a written contract attached to the Complaint entitled "Employment Agreement," allegedly between the Salazars and "Thrifty Nickel." (See Agreement attached to Complaint; R. 8-10.) Thrifty Nickel is defined in the Complaint as "Thrifty Nickel of Orem, Inc." (See Complaint at ¶ 2; R. 2.) Thrifty Nickel of Orem, Inc. is a named defendant and is identified in both the caption and opening paragraph of the Complaint as a "Utah corporation." (Complaint at p. 1; R. 1.)

Christensen is neither a party nor a signatory to the contract attached to the Salazars' Complaint. (See Agreement attached to Complaint; R. 8, 10.) Where allegations are contrary to the clear and unambiguous terms of a written agreement attached to the complaint, the agreement controls and mere conclusions to the contrary should be rejected. Olpin v. Ideal Nat'l Ins. Co., 419 F.2d 1250, 1255 (10th Cir. 1969); cert. denied, 397 U.S. 1074 (1970). As the court noted in Zeligson v. Hartman-Blair, Inc., 126 F.2d 595, 597 (10th Cir. 1942), "[t]he writing was attached to the first amended complaint as an exhibit and its legal effect is to be determined by its terms

rather than by the allegations of the pleader.” (Citations omitted.) Id.; see also Utah R. Civ. P. 10(c). The writing here, the alleged agreement attached to the Complaint, is thus fundamentally inconsistent with any claim that Christensen is liable under it because he is neither a party nor a signatory to the agreement.

A party is not liable on a contract where he is not a signatory. Shire Dev. v. Frontier Invs., 799 P.2d 221, 223 (Utah App. 1990); County of Suffolk v. Long Island Lighting Co., 728 F.2d 52, 63 (2d Cir. 1984). Thus, absent some other theory of liability, Christensen cannot be held liable under an alleged agreement to which he is not a party. Id. Yet, no separate claims against Christensen have been alleged in the Complaint.

**2. As a Mere Shareholder of Thrifty Nickel of Orem,
Christensen is Not Personally Liable for Its Debts.**

It is a fundamental principle of corporate law that shareholders are not personally liable for the debts of a corporation. Harry G. Henn, Law of Corporations, §§ 73, 202 (2nd ed. 1970). Utah has explicitly codified this principle in Utah Code Ann. § 16-10(a)-622(2). It provides in pertinent part, “. . . a shareholder or subscriber for shares of a corporation is not personally liable for the acts or debts of the corporation solely by reason of the ownership of the corporation’s shares.” Utah Code Ann. § 16-10(a)-622(2); Salt Lake City Corp. v. James Constr., 761 P.2d 42, 46 (Utah Ct. App. 1988). In James, the Court explained the policy behind this principle, stating, “Ordinarily, a corporation is regarded as a separate and distinct legal entity from its stockholders.

The purpose of such separation is to insulate the stockholders from the liabilities of the corporation, thus limiting their liability to only the amount that the stockholders voluntarily put at risk.” James, 761 P.2d at 46. Thus, absent some other factual basis to establish liability, the Salazars’ allegation that Christensen is a mere shareholder of Thrifty Nickel of Orem bars their action against him.

B. The Salazars Did Not Allege Any Facts To Support A Claim Of Piercing The Corporate Veil Of Thrifty Nickel Of Orem To Hold Christensen Personally Liable.

The Salazars vaguely alluded in their Complaint to a “corporate veil distinguishing or protecting the assets of any of the five defendants.” (See Complaint at ¶ 37; R. 5.) But the Salazars have not and are completely unable to plead or show any of the requisite facts or necessary elements to support a piercing of the corporate veil claim against Christensen.

Utah courts will only reluctantly and cautiously pierce the corporate veil. See James, 761 P.2d at 46; Cascade Energy and Metals Corp. v. Banks, 896 F.2d 1557 (10th Cir. 1990) (interpreting Utah veil-piercing law). Accordingly, in order to pierce a corporate veil and hold Christensen personally liable for the debts of Thrifty Nickel of Orem, Utah law requires that the Salazars satisfy two distinct elements. In Norman v. Murray First Thrift & Loan Co., 596 P.2d 1028 (Utah 1979), the Utah Supreme Court explained these two elements, adopting a two-prong test to determine when disregarding the corporate entity is justified:

[I]n order to disregard the corporate entity, there must be a concurrence of two circumstances: (1) there must be such unity of interest and ownership that the separate personalities of the corporation and the individual no longer exist, viz., the corporation is, in fact, the alter ego of one or a few individuals; and (2) the observance of the corporate form would sanction a fraud, promote injustice, or an inequitable result would follow.

Id. at 1030.

Thus, in order to state a claim of piercing a corporate veil, the Salazars must be able to at least allege facts demonstrating that (1) there was such a unity of interest and ownership between Christensen and Thrifty Nickel of Orem such that Thrifty Nickel of Orem no longer existed but was instead the alter ego of Christensen; and (2) that the observance of the corporate form of Thrifty Nickel of Orem would sanction a fraud, promote injustice, or that an inequitable result would follow. Id. The Salazars utterly failed to plead or otherwise show facts to satisfy either of these pleading requirements, much less both of them, as they must.

Instead, the only allegation in the complaint even mentioning a “corporate veil” is Paragraph 37 of the Complaint, stating: “There should be no corporate veil distinguishing or protecting any assets of the five defendants.” (See Complaint ¶ at 37; R. 5.) This single, conclusory reference to a “corporate veil,” without any specific mention of Christensen, or any facts alleged to establish the requisite elements of a veil-piercing claim against Christensen, is entirely inadequate to sustain a veil-piercing claim. See infra.

1. The Salazars Cannot Allege Facts to Satisfy the Alter Ego Prong Required to Support a Veil-Piercing Theory.

Although the Salazars alleged that Christensen was a shareholder of Thrifty Nickel of Orem, the Salazars did not allege that the corporate form of Thrifty Nickel of Orem did not exist but was instead the alter ego of one or a few individuals. The alter ego prong requires further factual allegations that the statutory formalities regarding corporations have not been met and can only be established “upon a showing of the corporation’s failure to observe said statutory formalities.” Messick v. PHD Trucking Serv., Inc., 678 P.2d 791, 794 (Utah 1984). No such allegations exist that Thrifty Nickel of Orem failed to follow statutory formalities. Although the Salazars alleged in the Complaint that “Thrifty Nickel was and is owned in whole or part by defendant Christensen” (see Complaint at ¶ 21; R. 3), alleged in their opposition memorandum that Christensen is the “kingpin” of the “Thrifty Nickel Empire” (See Salazars Memorandum in Opposition at p. 2; R. 97), and alleged at the hearing on the motion to dismiss that, “[Christensen] is the kingpin of this organization, the godfather, the president, whatever we want to refer to him ...” (See Tr. of Hearing at p. 11:9-10; R. 171), these meaningless, gratuitous allegations do not in any way relate to, much less satisfy, the alter ego prong. Supra.

2. The Salazars Cannot Allege Facts to Satisfy the Fraud/Inequities Prong Required to Support a Veil-Piercing Theory.

The Salazars likewise cannot meet the inequities requirement of the second prong. Even if they could satisfy the alter ego prong, the Salazars must also meet the second prong, the inequities prong, to pierce the corporate veil. Norman, 596 P.2d at 1030. But the inequities prong is not satisfied simply because it may be difficult for the Salazars to be made whole. Transamerica Cash Reserve, Inc. v. Dixie Power & Water, Inc., 789 P.2d 24, 26 (Utah 1990). Rather, the Salazars must allege facts demonstrating that Christensen used the corporate form of Thrifty Nickel of Orem to promote injustice or sanction fraud. E.g., Norman, 596 P.2d at 1090; Baldwin v. Matthew R. White Invs., Inc., 669 F.Supp. 1054, 1057 (D. Utah 1987).

Not surprisingly, there is not a single allegation by the Salazars that Christensen engaged in any inequitable conduct that would sanction a fraud or promote injustice. However, after having been educated on the bare elements for a veil-piercing claim by Christensen's motion to dismiss, the Salazars, for the very first time, state in their appellate brief that, "In the instant case, allowing Mr. Christensen to hide behind the corporate form would sanction fraud, promote injustice, and result in inequity." (See Salazars' Brief at p. 35.) The Salazars now offer this completely conclusory statement, yet they entirely fail to state what fraud has been sanctioned, what injustice has been promoted and/or what inequity has resulted from the observance of the corporate form of Thrifty Nickel of Orem. The Salazars' new allegation of Christensen promoting

fraud, made for the first time on appeal, cannot, and does not, save their Complaint and further fails to meet the requirement of Utah R. Civ. P. 9(b) that averments of fraud be set forth with particularity. Utah R. Civ. P. 9(b).

Indeed, Utah R. Civ. P. 9(b)'s particularity requirement "reach[es] all circumstances where the pleader alleges the kind of misrepresentation, omissions, or other deceptions covered by the term 'fraud' in its broadest dimensions." Williams v. State Farm Ins. Co., 656 P.2d 966, 972 (Utah 1982). A simple allegation of "fraud" is a general accusation and will not withstand a motion to dismiss. Heathman v. Hatch, 372 P.2d 990, 991 (Utah 1962). Rather, the basic facts must be set forth with sufficient particularity to show what facts are claimed to constitute such charges. Id.

Within the context of piercing the corporate veil, federal Rule 9(b), identical to Utah R. Civ. P. 9(b), is consistently interpreted as requiring a pleader to satisfy the specificity requirements of Rule 9(b) where an allegation of fraud is used to support a corporate veil-piercing claim. See Laborers Combined Funds of Western Pennsylvania v. Ruscitto, 848 F.Supp. 598 (W.D. Pa. 1994); Gabriel Capital, L.P. v. NatWest Fin., Inc., 122 F.Supp.2d 407 (S.D.N.Y. 2000); Chicago Dist. Council of Carpenters Pension Fund v. Ceiling Wall Sys., Inc., 915 F.Supp. 939 (N.D. Ill. 1996); Jack LaLanne Fitness Centers, Inc. v. Jimlar, Inc., 884 F.Supp. 162 (D.N.J. 1995). The Salazars have never set forth any facts, much less facts with the particularity required to support a fraud allegation. Thus, even if the conclusory statement from their appellate

brief had been alleged in the Complaint, it still would not suffice to state a claim to pierce the corporate veil of Thrifty Nickel of Orem. See id.

Because of the presumption that shareholders are not personally responsible for the debts of a corporation, because the Salazars have alleged that Christensen is a shareholder of Thrifty Nickel of Orem, and because the Salazars have not and cannot plead facts demonstrating elements necessary to pierce the corporate veil as to Christensen, the trial court correctly dismissed their claims against Christensen with prejudice pursuant to Utah R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). See supra. This Court should therefore affirm the sound decision of the trial court.

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